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BAUER, Chief Judgs.

Norby Walters and Lioyd Eloom were sports agents who specialized in representing college football players, Walters
and Blosm would recruit young glayers still ix college and secretly sign them to exdusive representation contracts, The
phayers would then e abost the existence of their contracts on the amateur athletie eligibility forms they submitted to

ball on

their universities. The athletes would then continueto recvive scholarships from these universities and play
the scha
their participation in this scheme. They now appeal to this court, contending that several arrors were commirted dering

s’ teams. Walters and Eloom were convi

od on tharges of mail fraed, RICO violations and conspimcy

their trial that shoul render their convictions invalid. Webelieve that fundamental errors occurred at trial vhich
prejudiced the defandants” ability to receive a fair trial. We, tharefors, reverse and remand with instrustions for a new
trial

I. BACKGROUND

Norby Walters, a former nightclub owner, and Lloyd Bloom, a 25-year-old, self-dessribed salesman, tegether formed
World Sports & Entertainment ("WS & E*) in August 1084. In the past, Walters had represented entorminers such as
the Jackson Five, Dionne Warwick and The New Edition, With their new enterprise, Bloom and Walters hoped to make
the transition from managing musical entertainers % representiag professional athletes.

Walters and Bloom would eatice talented college fostball players to sign exclusive mpresentation contracts with WS &
E by providing signing bonuses in cash, no-interest loans, sports cars and other incentives. As itwas iz the isterest of
both the agents and their clients for the players to retain their college eligibilty, the contracts were post-dated andthe

agreements were kept secret by both sides.
on ("NCAA") forbids players from signing with an agent or receiving
bi

idered to have waived his eligibility in return for payment, and can no longer compete in o

The National Collegiate Atiletic Associati
persation for athletics before the ex)

y. An athlete who violates these rulesis

ration of collegiste athletic el

e ahletics. Schools

who are members of the NCAA require their players to submit forms testifying to the lackof such restrictions on their
eligibility. The forms are then filed with the NCAA. Thus, the players who had signed agreements with Walters and
Bloom would lie to their cclleges on these eligibility formsin order to continue to receive scholarships and to play for
their school teams.

Prior tobeginaing their enterprise, in January 1985, Walters and Bloom consulted ith aornays at the law firm of
Shaa & Gonld in New York concerning the possible lagal ramifications of thase agreements. Lonn Trost, the bead of the
sports law departmeat at Shea & Gould, informed the agents that while they were violating NCAA rules by signing

athlataswha than continued to play for their colloge taams, thay ware sot viclating any laws. Trost and o
at Shea & Gould ad

or, They

it that they were avare that athletes would probably have to conceal this arrangement

usiver antend, howecer, that they were not aware that the athlatss would lis epenly on their N

eligibility forms.

Walters and Bloom were much more soccessfal recruiters than agents or negotiators. In all, 58 college football players

enteredinto represontation agreemonts with WS & £. Only two players, however, centinued the relationship after

graduation freem college. The vast majority fek cheated by Walters” and Bloomn's claadestine tactics and signed with

other agents prior to the NPL draft. Walters aad Bloom again coasulted with Shea & ¢

1 to comaider enforcmment of

the contracts. The agents were out not enly their anticipated representation fees, but the bans they had made to the

d that the contracis were ble, but ded against li tion. The

players up froat, Their attcrneys beli

government alleges, and several former clients testified, that Walters and Bloom pessonally threatened them in an

attempt to enforce these contracts. One play
dsaft if he did not repay hit loan 10 WS& E.

, Maurice Douglas, was told his legs would be broken before the NFL

On August 24, 1988, Walters and Bloon w harged in a s 1 indi with reail fraud, RICO viclations,
and conspiracy in the Northern District of Illinois.t Count 1 alleged conspiracy to ergage in a pattern of racketeering
activity, and Count VIl alleged substantive viclations of the Racket: fl d and Corrupt Org: ions Act
(RICO"), spacifically 18 US.C. Sac. 1962(c) & (d). The predicate acts for these RICO charges induded extortion,

attemptad extortion, mail fraud, wire fraud, collection of credit by extortionate means, and the use of interstate
f
fraud ccunts against the University of Michigan, igan State University, the University of lowa and Purdze

University, respectively, in violation of 18 U.S.C. Sec. 1341. Count VI alleged conspiracy to commit mad fraud in
violation of 18U.S.C. Sec.

e 10 the furtherances of uslawful activity, Counts 11V tely charged the defendants with substastive mail

Ajury trial was held before Judge George M. Marovich from March 6, 1989 through April 6, 1989. After a week of
deliberation, the jury found Walters and Bloom guikiy on five of the seven counts. The defendants were found not guilty
of mail raud against two of the universties under Counts [1l and IV, In a special verdiet, the jury indicated that it did
not find that Walters or Bloom had committed the extortion-related charges. On June 19, 1989, Judge Marovich
sentenced Walters to five years in custody to be followed by five rears probation. Bloom received a three-year sentence
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ta be fallawed by five years probation. Bath defendants moved for a new trial and upon the denial of this mation filed a
timely netice of appeal.

IL DISCUSSION

On appeal, Walters and Bloom raise a series of challenges to the procedures followsd at their trials. Two of these
issuns~-the refusal by the court to tender an instruction that w.km actions may hvnbwln predicated on the advics of
counsel and the denial of Bloom's mation for se e ly prejudicial to the defendants ta warrant
revarsal of their comvictions and a new trial.

A Walrers” Advice-of-Counsel Instruction

10

The linchpin of Walters defense was that his actions were taken in good faith based upon the advice of his anormeys. If
the jury accepted this ch izati [ the events, Wall ld not have been considered to have formed the
specific i i d upon the universities, See United States v. Martin-Trigona, 684 F.2d 485, 452
(th Cir1g84) ("good hnh or the absance of an intant to defraud, is a complete dafensa to a chargs of mail fraud.”)
This court has often stated, "[t]he defendant in a criminal case is entitled to have the jury consider any theary of the
defense which is supported by the law and which has some foundation in the evidence, however tenuous.” United States
v. Briscos, 806 F.ad 147%, 1512 (7th Cir.1990). See also United States v. Boucher, 706 F.ad 972, 075 (7th Cirao86);
United States v. Grimes, 413 F.2d 1376, 1378 (b Cir.1969). On appeal, therefore, we must determine whether the
evidence supports Walters' theory of good faith relisnce on the advice of his counsel. See United States v. Kelley, 864
F.2d 564, 572 (7th Cir.1989),

In January of 1985, Walters met with attorneys at Shea & Gould. In March of that year, he began signing his first
elients. Walters diseussions with counsel, therefore, predated the actions taken in violation of the NCAA rules, The
government vigorously contends that Walters did not reveal to his attorneys that his clients would lie on eligibility
farmes, By not revealing this material fact, the prosecution argues, Walters cannot now raise the advice-of-counsel
defense. Walters, however, stresses that he was not aware of these forms.

Both sides admit that Walters' counsel informed him that although he would be violating NCAA rules by concealing the
early recruiting of these athlates, ha would not break the law by signing these concealed arrangements. It is not
unreasanable to assume that the sports law experts at Shea & Gould would be aware of the eligibility forms required of
athletes by universities and the NCAA. Nor would it have been unreasonable for these attorneys to have considered how
hese fx might be add. d by Walters' technically ineligible elients. The lack of di don eould signal that
Walters was unaware of the forms or that the Shea & qu]dummu,—: tacitly considered these forms in fssuing their
Iogal opinicn.

Th ibility accepted by th hat Walters simply chose to lie to his attorneys about his plans--ssems
patently unreasonable. Walters, by all accounts, was a rather unethical and unsavory businessman, He frequently
aperated outside the boundaries of truth and honesty, Yet, this does not persuade us that he would conceal material
information from his attorney. Walters apparently sought out Shea & Gould because he feared that his actions might be
illogal. Such a cliant is more Hkely to reveal all relevant i jon than ons A by th of his
acts,

The trial court, however, is the place to make thesa dsterminations; it is not for us to determine whether Walters
actually concealed material information from his attorneys, Whether Walters did conceal such information or nat,
hewever, the fact remains that there is substantial doubt about the < of his legal advice. Such i
must be resolved by the jury--not the court. If Walters demonstrated evidence that he had provided to his attorneys all
material information known to him, then the eourt must at least tender an instroetion on the adviee-of-counsel defense.
We believe Walters presented sufficient evidence on which to support his theory of defense. He deserved an instruction
explaining this theory. Nor ean of counsel ... substitute for i sons by the courtl.]” Taylor v. Kentucky,

436 U5, 478, 486-8g, 9B 5. Ct. 1930, 1936-37, 56 L Fd. ad 468 (1978). Amid a sea of facts and inferences, instructions.
ara the jury's only compass. Here, they wera cast adrifi. The court’s failure to provide an instruction on Walters® theory
of defense infected the fairness of his trial. Walters established the basis for such ndmnn and deserved such an
instruetian. The refusal to provide an advics-of -counsal i etion was tharefars

B. Bloom's Metion for Severance

Bloom contends that Walters” pursuit of an advice-of-connsel defense foreed him to waive his sttorney-client privilege.
He therefars requested severancs under Fed, R.Civ.P. 14. The court denied this request, stating that the privilege was
held by WS & E as a corporate entity and not by Bloom individually. Under the court's approach, W’ahm. asthe
president of W5 & E, was fres to waive the attorney-client privilags ding all WS & E in
pursuing his advice-of-counsel defense. Bloom now contends that this denial of his motion to sever was reversible
wrror,

& Adaecision not to sever the trials of co-defendants "is one within the sound discretion of the trial court and should be

overturned only if it is found to be a clear abuse of discretion.” United States v. Penson, 896 F.2d 1087, 1004 (7th

Cir.1950), the defendant bears the burden of 4 ing that he was prejudiced by the denial of
severance, See Unived States v. Ogluslvg }64 F.2d 1273, 1275-76 (7th Cir. 198.5) “u. have held, however, that severances
are called for where the defenses of 5 are “mutnally ilable ... [sach] that the

acceptancs of one party's defense will pﬂ\duﬂl‘ the acquittal of the ather.” lImw-d States v. Briscoe, 806 F.2d 1476, 1518
(7th Cir.aggu). Even whers defanses are not mutually antagonistic, 5 severancs may ba granted “if the actusl eenduct of
defand. ‘his or har co-defendant.” See United States v. Mazzanti, 888 F.ad 1165,

one defonsa unduly

117272 (7th Cir.1689); United States v. Rollins, 862 F.2d 1282, 1200 (71h Cir.1088).

The first issus we must resalve is whether an attorney-client relationship axisted betwesn Shea & Gould and Llayd

Bloom as an individual or whether Shea & Gould simply d the corp ity of WS R E. A ling 1o the

i ‘Walters and Bleom -hed the attorneys for civil, administrative and criminal law advice. Shea & Gould
did not merely provide inf about how to draft ion eontracts, but offered opinions about the
eriminality of Walters' and Bloom's actions. The agents were informed that although they were vielating NCAA rales
they were not breaking any laws. Thi rt h d that d ination of the existence of the attorney-client
privilege "hinges upon the cliant’s balief that he is consulting a lawyer in that ecapacity and his manifested intention to
seak ional legal advice. ingh Electric Corp. v. Kerr-McGes Corp, 580 F.ad 1311, 1319 (7th Ciragy8),
Bloom confided highly personal information about his activities to his lawyers in order to secure their opinions about
the criminal ifications of th cts, He ting as an individual, not an officer of a corporation, at that time, We
believe the y-cli Lati blishid under these o The ications between

Bloom and his attorneys at Shea & Gould are therefore privileged. Only Bloom, not Walters, could waive this privilege.

This dees not ead our inguiry, however, Next we must determine whether Bloom's trial was prejudiced by the violation
of this privilege. We believe that such prejudice did oceur. When Walters pursued his advice-of-counsel defense, Bloom
was foreed to observe his own attorneys testify about the intimate diseussions to which he had been a party. Bloom
could not pursue his own defense, but was foreed to skittle along behind that of Walters. Details which Bloom chose to
shara with his attorney wara not availabla to the prosscution and braadeast ta the jury. Blaom's counsal did nat wish ta.
pursus the advice-of-counsel gambit with Walters, In fact, Bloom's counsal stated to the court that Walters' theory had
"gone over like a lead balloon” with the jury. Given that prejudicial error cocurred in Wllmf defense, we are

that Bloom was prejudiced as well. Walters' conduct of defense “unduly prej his . "
Mazzanti, 888 F.od at 1173.

The attorney-client privilege ranks high among the precious gems of our adversary system of justice. We should not
allow it to be tarnished so easily, We recognize that joint trials are an essential element of the quick administration of
justice. If every defendant whe wanted a severance was given one, the slow pace of our court system would go from a
lysis; any motion for : » must be balanced against the need for judicial economy, Hero, no such

erawd to
balanca can be reasonably strack. Where, as here, the attorney-client privilege is compromised by jeint trials, we must
rula on the sida of ssverance. Oncs Waltars pursusd his advics-of-connsal dafanse, a5 was his right, Bloom must have
bean provided the option of a separate trial. Any other conrse of action forced Bloom to waive his attorney-client
lmrllmm We cannot telerate such devil's bargains, The denial of Bloom's motion for severance under these

tside the court’s discretion. Bloom must be given another trial in which to pursue his own defenss
free from that of his co-defendant.

1M1 CONCLUSION
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The court erred by not jrov rs. Walters

n advice-of-counsel iastruction tothe jury as requested by W

reasonably developed tlis defense he deserved to have the jury, aot the court, determine its validity. Hs was
g ved this advica

y Bloom could properly waive this p

wr, as W

sunsel defanse, this necassarily

ge. He did not. The denial

substantially prejudicad by ths omis tars pu

ce, therefore, was reversible error. Because we reverse on these issues, we do not reach the

ed by the defend

remaining contentions

REVERSED AND REMANDED WITH INSTRUCTIONS TO PROCEED ACCORDING TO THE INSTRUCTIONS
CONTAINED HEREIN
ts. None of the

A superseding indictrent was filed Febreary 1,1080, making several chaages to the content of the o

changes are relevant here
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